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Joseph B. Neville, Jr.

Disloyal or Not?: Four Deutschtexaner
and the Great War1

At the outset of the Great War in August 1914 Germany and its ally Austria-
Hungary confronted Russia, France, Great Britain, Serbia, and Belgium. The 
magnitude of the coalition facing Germany and Austria-Hungary forced the 
Reich of Kaiser Wilhelm II to assess its relations with those countries that had 
declared their neutrality in the conflict. At the very least, Germany hoped 
that those countries, and especially the United States of America, would be 
genuinely neutral. In an article focused on the United States, one German 
newspaper, the Frankfurter Zeitung, observed just two weeks after hostilities 
began that, “Without a single friend in Europe, [Germany] is certainly not in 
the position to make still more enemies overseas.”2

In that circumstance, the situations and views of U.S. residents of 
German ancestry were of more than passing interest to the press in Germany. 
This paper is embedded in one aspect of Germany’s “rich newspaper culture”3 
as it focuses on letters sent by German-Americans4 to the Old Fatherland that 
were published in German newspapers. It will draw on four such letters from 
Texans that were reproduced in German newspapers during the early months 
of the war, a period during which, despite President Woodrow Wilson’s 
declaration of U.S. neutrality, the exact contours of American foreign policy 
had yet to be defined.

These four letters, edited for their own purposes by the German 
newspapers that published them, do not form a coherent story, nor do I 
contend that they represent the circumstances of all Texans who had been 
born in Germany or were by their heritage German-Americans. They do, 
however, suggest the issues that German-Texans faced as the Great War 
began, and the ways in which at least some of the more active among them 
addressed the circumstances created by the outbreak of war.5
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Of the four correspondents three were identified with the publication of 
their letters: Dr. Hermann Gerhard, Carl Luetcke, and Robert Hanschke.6 
Each was born in Germany; each was a naturalized United States citizen; each 
was a professional (two newspaper editors, one attorney); each had traveled 
to Germany at least once since his initial arrival in the United States; and 
each would be the subject of scrutiny by the Bureau of Investigation, an arm 
of the U.S. Department of Justice established in 1909 and eventually (1935) 
renamed the Federal Bureau of Investigation.7 All of this would also apply 
to the author who was not identified with the publication of a part of his 
letter in the Berliner Lokal-Anzeiger, but who, evidence suggests, was G. R. 
Spielhagen. He, too, was born in Germany; was a naturalized U.S. citizen; 
had traveled back to Germany in 1895 and 1913; was a Texas state employee 
who, during the war, represented the State Warehouse and Marketing 
Commission and on one occasion was described “as one of the state’s most 
noted agricultural authorities”;8 and who would also come to the attention of 
the Bureau of Investigation.

* * *

The first of the four letters considered in this essay, and the longest, was 
published in the Berlin Tägliche Rundschau on September 18, 1914. That letter, 
dated August 19, was the work of Dr. Hermann Gerhard and appeared as a 
“Kriegsbrief aus Deutschburg in Texas.”9 Born in Germany in 1869, he was a 
former German reservist whose “last residence” upon his 1893 immigration 
to the United States was Wiesbaden.10 Gerhard had served as editor of the 
Lincoln [Nebraska] Freie Presse and Der [Milwaukee] Germania Herald.11 He 
was a founder and, in 1914, at least a part-time resident of the Texas colony 
of Deutschburg.12 In his Kriegsbrief of August 19 Gerhard recounted that 
he had learned of the outbreak of war when “my little daughter Adele” rode 
her pony to Francitas, some seven miles from Deutschburg, to pick up the 
mail. As she arrived home, the excited young girl yelled “Papa, Germany is 
at war with Russia!” When she handed the newspapers to her father, she said 
“Papa, are you going to war?” Gerhard glanced through several papers, some 
in English, some in German—among the former, the Houston Post, among 
the latter Milwaukee’s Germania, the Omaha Tribüne, and the Lincoln Freie 
Presse, where he, a few years earlier, had served as the editor-in-chief. “Of 
course, the English [papers are] full of lies that make my blood boil.” In 
this circumstance Gerhard recorded that “I sat down right away and wrote 
a letter to the German Consul in Galveston placing myself at his disposal. 
Even though I am both an American citizen and already beyond age 45, I 
think that, in this world war, where everyone is pouncing like dogs on the 
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German Michael, the Kaiser can use all the help he can get (der Kaiser jeden 
Arm gebrauchen kann).”13 In his letter to Germany Gerhard mentioned that 
“most of our Deutschburgers are, like me, former German soldiers,” that he 
had served in the 11th Hessian Rifles, and that he would now like “to put my 
marksmanship to the test against the perfidious English.” Unfortunately, the 
Consul had not responded to his offer, so Gerhard said that he had written 
to him once again.14

Gerhard’s letter also described how German-Americans had formed 
organizations to collect funds for the German Red Cross. In this regard he 
singled out efforts by the Travis County Association for the Aid of the Red 
Cross in Germany and the German Alliance in Nebraska. Gerhard applauded 
“our great National German-American Alliance” in its efforts to counteract the 
“English troublemakers in our major Anglo-American newspapers (in unseren 
englischamerikanischen großen Zeitungen).” Such troublemakers included the 
Houston Post. Aware that efforts to tell Germany’s side of the origins and 
course of the war were not entirely successful, Gerhard would take matters 
into his own hands. “A few days ago, when I had to travel to the city, I was 
able to use that occasion to teach my English fellow-citizens in Francitas an 
enlightening lesson (Aufklärungslektion).” There, at the post office, Gerhard 
got into a heated exchange about misinformation in the English-language 
press and, specifically, about a distorted account in the Houston Post regarding 
the significance of a series of naval engagements involving the German 
cruiser Karlsruhe and three British ships, the Berwick, Bristol, and Suffolk, and 
whether or not those engagements constituted the British victory claimed by 
the article. To Gerhard, as a long-time supporter of a strong German navy—
“als alter deutscher Flottenvereinler”—, the headline of the article completely 
misrepresented what had happened. “You—all of you—should be ashamed 
that you are taken in by such nonsense, but everyone has the press that he 
deserves.”15 Such efforts as he made at the post office, said Gerhard, actually 
helped. Even the Houston Post, schooled by the local German-American 
Alliance and by “our Sängerbund,” had begun to present the German point of 
view to its English readers, even going so far as to print articles in the German 
language. “A glimmer of hope.” (Es beginnt zu tagen.)

In general Gerhard found “the mood among our German-Texans” (die 
Stimmung unter unsern Deutschtexanern) to be “tremendously high” (mächtig 
hoch).16 He related that in the nearby city of Viktoria, “which counts many 
Germans among its ‘prominent’ citizens,” “old soldiers” there had formed a 
military unit and hoped to go to Germany. However, a U.S. Marshall arrived 
and explained that doing so would violate “Uncle Sam’s neutrality.” If they 
did not stop, he would have to lock them up. As a result, the company was 
dissolved, although, since then, quite a few had on their own moved out, 
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presumably to find their way to Germany. “The U.S. Marshal explained, good 
naturedly, that every brave German might help his Motherland, [that such 
Germans] might travel together, but not as a company with weapons for 
that would be privateering (Flibustierei).” Gerhard went on to say that, as 
he understood the mood in the area, “in south Texas alone we could in no 
time organize two to three regiments for ‘Old Mother Germany,’ as the U.S. 
Marshall so nicely put it. However, it seems as though Mother Germany 
already has over there so many valiant sons who are trained to fight and 
enthusiastic about doing so that she won’t even want us.”

Gerhard closed his letter with this observation: “Yes, things certainly 
do not look good for us, with the whole world in arms against us, but the 
German is not afraid—the more enemies, the more honor! Every evening, 
while I sit at the piano, my boys and girls, in clear and enthusiastic voices, 
sing ‘Lieb Vaterland, magst ruhig sein, Fest steht und treu die Wacht am 
Rhein.’”17

* * *

Shortly after the outbreak of war, an American living in Wiesbaden who 
was also the former American Vice Consul at Mannheim (1905–06), N. C. 
Schlemmer, wrote to his friend in Austin, asking that he work in behalf of 
Germany’s cause. That friend was Attorney Karl Luetcke, a German-American 
born in Hattingen, in Westphalia, in 1874. Luetcke responded by writing a 
letter to Schlemmer, dated September 4, that was published in the Kölnische 
Zeitung on October 2. In his letter Luetcke wrote that, “Here in America, 
since the beginning of the battles in Belgium, a strong anti-German feeling 
has dominated; every American, with few exceptions, wished the worst for 
the Germans (jeder Amerikaner—mit wenigen Ausnahmen—wünschten die 
Deutschen in des Teufels Küche). . . .” More recently, however, with the Japanese 
seizing the German colony of Tsingtau (today Qingdao), things had changed 
quite a bit, “although it is still difficult for us to be able to convince Americans 
that our cause is just.” It was Luetcke’s view that England over the years had 
poisoned American newspapers and readers against Germany, this despite 
the efforts of the German-American “Element.” Luetcke mentioned that “so-
called literary bureaus” were being set up to confront this maliciousness, and 
he noted that they were making progress in that regard. Luetcke directed the 
letter’s reader to material that he had included with his letter, material that 
demonstrated how the people in Travis County had organized themselves in 
Germany’s behalf. “I personally have written to Germans in more than one-
hundred counties in an effort to get them to do the same, and now efforts are 
being made across the entire state in behalf of this noble cause. For three weeks 
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this has been my singular preoccupation.” The Kölnische Zeitung reported 
that Luetcke’s enclosed material included literature about the formation of 
the Travis County Society for the Support of the Red Cross in Germany, 
and that the organization had already enjoyed some success. In closing its 
coverage of Luetcke’s letter, the Cologne daily advanced the possibility that 
twenty million marks could be raised for the Red Cross in Germany. Luetcke 
voiced the area’s pride in the success of “our German lads,” and he expressed 
the hope that their success would be such as to allow them to dictate a treaty 
that would mark a splendid achievement “for our beloved Germany” and that 
would “provide the foundation for world peace.”18

* * *

A very different view of events on the part of a German-Texan was offered 
in a letter from Robert Hanschke, a San Antonio resident who was visiting 
Germany when World War I began. The correspondent, who was born in 
Dueben, Saxony, in 1847, identified himself at the end of his letter as the editor 
(Redakteur) of the Freie Presse für Texas,19 and his letter, like the letter from the 
unnamed Landsmann discussed below, appeared in the Berliner Lokal-Anzeiger 
of September 29 under the heading of “Ein Abschiedswort.” Hanschke, who 
wrote his letter as he prepared to return to the United States, began his missive 
with this lengthy remark: “I cannot depart from Germany without expressing 
my unbounded admiration for the land of my birth, which I left 48 years ago, 
and whose hospitality I have once again enjoyed, this time for an entire year, 
without remarking upon what any fair-minded observer would say are the 
many wonderful things that I have seen and experienced.”20 During his stay 
in Germany Hanschke communicated regularly with his newspaper in San 
Antonio, which in turn published his accounts of his experiences in Germany. 
The Freie Presse für Texas carried his fiftieth “Reise-Brief” on August 19, 1914, 
some two weeks after the World War began.21 In his letter as it appeared 
in the Berliner Lokal-Anzeiger Hanschke wrote of Germany’s “phenomenal” 
economic achievements that had generated among “its three most powerful 
European competitors the resentment, envy, and hate that had driven them to 
war in order to humiliate and dismember [the Fatherland].” Hanschke spoke 
of the enthusiasm and patriotism that he witnessed as Germany mobilized 
for war, the “readiness to fight for a sacred cause (eine heilige Sache), for the 
preservation of the Fatherland.” As reprehensible as its rivals’ actions were 
that forced Germany to fight for its existence, so too did he expect them to 
do what they could to poison public opinion in the United States against the 
Fatherland. Hanschke recalled the days of the Franco-Prussian War, some 
forty-four years earlier: “I found myself living in New Orleans, which had 
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an influential French population and a daily newspaper, L’Abeille, which, in 
league with the English newspapers, knew to report only French victories.” 
How stunned and angry the population was when it learned of the Prussian 
victory at Sedan and the capture of Napoleon III. Now, in 1914, the London 
press is once again slandering the German Volk with vile and hateful reports. 
“How much worse [than in 1870-71] will the disillusionment be for the 
readers of all of this nastiness when the truth sees the light of day, when they 
realize how they have been deceived with bare-faced lies, how they have been 
stirred to hatred.” Hanschke closed his letter by indicating that, “As much 
as my strength allows, I will upon my arrival in New York devote myself to 
clearing things up and spreading the news about how things really stand, and 
I will continue to do so for the remainder of my trip until I reach home.”

Hanschke’s determination, once he returned to the United States, to 
counter the claims of Germany’s enemies about the origins and early course 
of the war fit nicely into what the German press hoped for from tourists 
returning to the United States. On that score the Berliner Neueste Nachrichten 
had this to say: “We are especially pleased that the Americans [now leaving 
Germany for the United States] are bringing the truth about the cause of the 
war and the current situation to their homeland, which thus far has had to 
make do with British and French reports whose untruths are familiar to us.”22

Hanschke would sail from Rotterdam on September 23 and arrive in New 
York on October 2.23 Once he reached the United States, Hanschke would 
serve as a German-American “apostle” both through public appearances—
for example, his remarks to the San Antonio Liederkranz24—and by the 
publication of additional correspondence that he had produced before he 
left Germany.25 Probably the most notable of such correspondence was the 
publication of the letter that is the subject of this presentation. On October 
28, the Freie Presse für Texas published his “Abschiedswort” that had appeared 
in the Berliner Lokal-Anzeiger a month earlier.26

* * *

Adjacent to Robert Hanschke’s letter as published by the Berliner Lokal-
Anzeiger on September 29 was the excerpt of a second letter, this from an 
unnamed “compatriot” (Landsmann) in San Antonio, Texas, which “was 
placed at [our] disposal.”27 The Lokal-Anzeiger introduced the letter by noting 
that it “clearly describes” the efforts of the “Germans there” as they both 
combated the lies circulated by the overseas press and worked in behalf of the 
Heimatland. The author of the letter mentioned public assemblies of Germans 
that had been organized by the National German-American Alliance, and he 
noted—the author was almost certainly a “he”—that the weekly Freie Presse 
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für Texas was now appearing in a daily edition.28 The correspondent added 
that a “literary bureau” had been set up to correct the errors, distortions, 
and exaggerations of the English-language newspapers, and that the bureau’s 
efforts had already produced a more positive tone in the local press.29 Said the 
letter writer, “I am the secretary of this bureau.”

Remarks in both the San Antonio Express on August 15 and the Freie Presse 
für Texas. Wochenblatt on August 19 suggest that the unnamed correspondent 
was G. R. Spielhagen.30 The San Antonio Express article described how, on 
August 14, “An organization [of German-Texans] was formed to create a 
more friendly feeling toward the Germans. J. C. Dielman was appointed 
chairman and G. R. Spielhagen was made secretary.” The Freie Presse article 
also identified Spielhagen as the secretary of the assembly (Versammlung). 
At the meeting Spielhagen read a set of resolutions that were adopted by 
the attendees with those resolutions mentioning that Germans could best 
confront the errors perpetrated by the English-language press with the 
formation of a “literary bureau” (die Gründung eines litterarischen Bureaus). In 
the letter at issue the author identified himself as the secretary of the literary 
bureau that was established to deal with the fabrications contained in the 
English-language press’s reporting on the war. Although the article in the San 
Antonio Express did not specifically mention a “literary bureau,” its placing 
Spielhagen as secretary of the “organization . . . formed to create a more 
friendly feeling toward the Germans” suggests, if not quite conclusively, that 
he was the secretary of the body identified by the Freie Presse as the literary 
bureau.31

The letter as it appeared in the Berliner Lokal-Anzeiger mentioned that 
the “some 30,000 Germans”32 who live “here” love the “land of their fathers,” 
and the author of the letter, presumably Spielhagen, pointed to a committee 
that had been formed to collect money for needy widows and orphans in 
Germany and Austria, these funds to be sent abroad “after the war in order, 
as our resources permit, to help dry the tears.” In describing his activities 
in behalf of the Old Fatherland the correspondent added that “I am the 
secretary of this committee, [I] collect money and make propaganda, and 
am proud that from afar [I] can in some small way work in behalf of my Old 
Fatherland.”33 At a small garden party “we have collected 1000 marks.”34 This 
kind of effort “has gripped the entire United States,” and one could expect 
that very considerable sums will be raised.

* * *

These four letters were written in the very early stages of the war. The 
latest to be published in the German press was Luetcke’s letter of September 
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4, which appeared in the Kölnische Zeitung on October 2. What might these 
letters have suggested to those who read them in German newspapers? Those 
readers could fairly understand that German-Americans, and here specifically 
German-Texans, were sympathetic to the Old Fatherland as the Kaiser went to 
war with much of Europe. They could be reassured that German-Americans, 
while recognizing the seriousness of the crisis that Germany faced, were 
confident that their ancestral homeland would triumph in the end. They could 
also be reassured that Deutschtum in the United States, especially through the 
National German-American Alliance and its local branches, was contesting 
the “lies” about the causes and course of the war as those “lies” appeared 
in the “English” press in the United States. And they could be impressed 
by German-American efforts to provide financial support to Germany, its 
wounded soldiers, and the wives and orphans of those German soldiers who 
had been killed in the early days of the war. For the most part, this was 
being done by contributions to the German Red Cross. A mixed message was 
conveyed by reports that many German-Americans wished to fight alongside 
the Kaiser’s soldiers, but that they were unable to do so because Britain’s 
navy controlled the seas and prevented them from crossing the Atlantic to 
join up with Germany’s armed forces. Neither did these letters provide any 
encouragement to their readers in Germany that German-Americans would 
be able to influence U.S. policy to the benefit of the Old Fatherland. For the 
moment, Germans in the Old Fatherland would have to hope that the efforts 
of their compatriots in the United States would lead to an American neutrality 
that would, at the least, not define itself at Germany’s expense. Finally, the 
Freie Presse’s account of the “small garden party” that raised 1000 marks for 
the Old Fatherland also included a cautionary note. The article describing 
the event expressed some disappointment in two areas: that the meeting, 
which drew some 1,000 persons in the face of threatening weather, while 
“well attended” (gut besucht), did not measure up to what might be expected 
by the German population of San Antonio (“Nicht tausend, zehntausend 
hätten anwesend sein sollen. . . .”). And the amount of money collected for 
the German and Austrian victims of the war seemed to disappoint as well. 
The collection was “very gratifying” (sehr befriedigen), but much larger sums 
needed to be brought in. “In the year 1870 thousands of dollars were sent to 
Germany from here, and we should not take a back seat to the Germans of 
that time.”35 

* * *

Almost a month after Hermann Gerhard wrote the letter treated in 
this essay he would inform the Freie Presse für Texas that the Farmers Union 
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(Farmerverein) of Deutschburg had affiliated with the Texas branch of the 
National German-American Alliance and that it had complained to the news-
papers there “concerning the lying reports about Germany.” He added that 
the Union had seen to it that, as of September 14, in the German school in 
Deutschburg instruction would be carried out in German.36 Gerhard, identi-
fied in newspaper accounts as “of Chicago,” would, in addressing the German 
Kriegerverein of North America at its meeting in St. Paul, Minnesota, on 
August 30, 1915, make “an impassioned plea for world peace that brought 
clamorous applause” and urge an “embargo on ammunition shipments.”37 
Gerhard’s commitment to “a strict embargo on shipments of arms and muni-
tions to the Allies” was further emphasized at the conference by the distribu-
tion of a circular bearing his signature.38

Gerhard’s activities would early on attract the attention of the Bureau of 
Investigation, an arm of the United States Department of Justice. The earliest 
document in Gerhard’s forty-four page Bureau file was dated April 27, 1917, 
but the first item in his file, an undated ten-page “Summary Report” prepared 
by Special Agent P. R. Hilliard, indicated that Gerhard’s file, at one time at 
least, contained twenty-two items from 1915 and another eighty-nine from 
1916.39

On April 16, 1917, W. W. Green, a Bureau agent in Houston, produced 
a memo that included the typescript of a letter from Gordon Lawson, iden-
tified elsewhere as an attorney in Palacios, and, it seems, a citizen who had 
taken it upon himself to watch Gerhard. In his letter dated April 10 Lawson 
reported on an April 9 meeting in Dichburg (presumably Deutschberg) at-
tended by Gerhard. Lawson described Gerhard (whom he identifies as “I. 
H. Gerhart” or simply as “Gerhart”) as a “German writer and a member of a 
military organization in Germany known as the Jaugers [Jägers?] . . . ; he has 
been trying to reach Germany ever since war was declared between the Allies 
and Germany.” Lawson claimed to know that “Gerhart is contemplating a 
move of all unnaturalized Germans to Mexico.” It may be more than un-
likely that Lawson knew of Gerhard’s letter that was published in the Tägliche 
Rundschau, but, given Gerhard’s confrontation at the Francitas postoffice and 
spirited claim that German-Texans were interested in returning to Germany 
to fight for the Kaiser, Lawson’s suspicions were probably not misplaced. In 
any event, Lawson claimed that Gerhard “in my humble opinion he should 
be watched, as he is a leader among the Germans and will furnish the brains 
for any move made. He holds his audience in true German style and is a 
military man and very dangerous.” In his second letter, dated April 14, Law-
son insisted, again, that, in his “humble opinion” Gerhard “needs watching, 
and I have had him watched. . . .” While Lawson admitted that he has “not 
enough to know just what they [the German element] contemplate, but it 
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looks as though they were planning to make a move to take the Germans to 
Mexico.” Lawson then laid out in some detail Gerhard’s imminent trip to St. 
Louis. Lawson provided a full description of Gerhard: “He is about five feet 
six, light complected, about sixty years old, walks with a cane, and has a very 
prominent saber scar on left cheek commencing about his ear and extending 
across his cheek.” Lawson provided a second description of Gerhard “as given 
by the hotel clerk . . . , which corresponds with the description given by the 
ticket agent and the negro at the station. . . .” Green closed his memorandum 
by indicating that it would be forwarded to Special Agent in Charge Barnes at 
San Antonio “by special delivery letter, in order that, if he so desires, he may 
have time to advise St. Louis by wire prior to Gerhard’s arrival at St. Louis 
where he is due at 11:15 A.M. on the 17th instant.”40

Gerhard’s Bureau file includes several messages describing efforts to know 
about his trip to St. Louis. Among them is a message (April 17, 1917) from 
Agent Barnes to E. J. Brennan in St. Louis. In his message Barnes remarks 
that Gerhart [sic] “is suspected [of ] being active organizing Germans in small 
towns in Texas to go to Mexico probably for military service thorough investi-
gation not yet completed but believe information at hand warrants thorough 
observation probably detention[.]”41

At this point the Bureau decided not to act on what it had learned about 
Gerhard’s activities in Texas. In a May 21, 1917 note, the “Chief”—presum-
ably A. Bruce Bielaski (elsewhere identified as the Chief of the Bureau of In-
vestigation in the Department of Justice, in Washington, 1912-1919)—told 
Barnes that “it does not seem from the information so far developed that it is 
necessary for you to take any further action in your district until this man is 
located in Chicago.”42

Gerhard again came to the attention of the Bureau of Investigation in 
Washington with a note of October 31, 1917 (discussed in note 40), that was 
sent to the agency’s Chief, Bielaski. The note stated that Gerhardt [sic] “now 
accused of opposing the Liberty Loan was reported from Francitas, Texas in 
May 1917 as [a] pro-German editor[,] minister [!], brilliant talker and writer 
who receives money from Germany.” The author of this note, Lieutenant Col-
onel Van Deman, in the Military Intelligence Section of the War Department, 
cited a lengthy October 24 memorandum that was prepared by Bureau Agent 
J. P. Rooney in Chicago. In a visit to Rooney’s office a member of the Foreign 
Language Division of the Liberty Loan Executive Committee claimed that he 
“had grounds to believe that Dr. Herman Gerhardt [of Chicago] is guilty of 
interfering with the sale of Liberty loan bonds. . . .” Rooney was referred to 
Attorney Charles Christmann, a member of the Foreign Language Division, 
Liberty Loan Executive Committee, and a member of the National German-
American Alliance of Illinois. Christmann told Rooney that in an October 
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10 meeting “he had attempted to introduce a resolution favoring the sale of 
Liberty Loan bonds[, and that Gerhard] got up and made a speech against this 
resolution, killing it.” As recorded in his memo, Rooney cited Christmann’s 
claim that Gerhard’s “most flagrant statement . . . was that he demanded to 
know of his fellow members of the Chicago Branch of the German-American 
Alliance if it had reached the point where they were ready to get down and 
crawl and give money to England to buy bullets with which to kill their rela-
tives in Germany.” Christmann claimed that Gerhard “has, for the past two 
years, been very active in connection with all pro-German matters.” His list of 
Gerhard’s transgressions included a claim that “he had been connected with 
the Embargo Conference, and raising funds for the benefit of the sufferers in 
Germany, among them the so-called Milk for Babies Committee.”43 Two days 
later (October 26) Agent Rooney produced another memo that described his 
subsequent visits to two members of the local German-American Alliance 
who had attended the meeting described by Christmann. Each of them de-
nied that Gerhard had remade the remarks attributed to him by Christmann. 
One of the two told Rooney that Gerhard “at the present time is suffering 
from Tuberculosis. . . , and that he doubts very much if Mr. Gerhard will live 
over a month.” Agent Rooney on October 27 produced yet another memo 
on the matter. Rooney recorded that he again visited Charles Christmann 
about the meeting at which Gerhard had allegedly railed against the sale of 
Liberty Bonds. Christmann said that Rooney “had probably misunderstood” 
him, that he had not been present at the meeting in question, and that he 
could not therefore have heard Gerhard make the remarks attributed to him. 
Nevertheless, Christmann told Rooney of a conversation he had had with 
Jacob Willig, a member of the local branch of the National German-American 
Alliance, who in Christmann’s words, reported that “all of the members of the 
Chicago Local were in favor of the purchase of Liberty Bonds by the mem-
bers until Dr. Herman [sic] Gerhard made a speech in which he attacked any 
movement in favor of the purchase of Liberty Bonds by the members.” In still 
another memo, this dated November 1 [1917], Rooney described how he 
tried to verify that Gerhard at the meeting on October 10 had spoken against 
the purchase of Liberty Bonds by the Chicago Branch of the German Alliance. 
The trail eventually led Rooney to Willig who, according to Christmann, was 
the source of information regarding Gerhard and the Liberty Bonds. In the 
interview Willig told Rooney that Gerhard “did not make any vicious attack 
on the sale of Liberty Bonds. . . .” As Rooney reported, “Mr. Willig states that 
he and Mr. Gerhard are very much opposed to each other, but that as much 
as he dislikes Mr. Gerhard, he would not be telling the truth if he said that he 
[Gerhard] was opposed to the sale of Liberty Bonds.” Rooney then went to 
Gerhard’s home, only to learn that he had been taken to the Alexian Brothers 
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Hospital for an operation. Rooney “could ascertain practically nothing relative 
to Gerhard’s attitude, owing to the fact that the neighborhood in which he 
resides is thoroughly German.” At the hospital Rooney learned that Gerhard 
had the day before been operated on “for a growth in his throat and chest 
and it was deemed advisable to refrain from interviewing him at this time.” 
Rooney recorded his intention to “keep in touch with hospital authorities 
and just as soon as Dr. Herman Gerhard is in a condition to be interviewed, 
Employee [Rooney] will proceed to do so.”44

Several months later, on April 18, 1918, Agent Louis De Nette in San 
Antonio prepared a report about Gerhard, “a retired German army officer.” 
De Nette had interviewed “the informant in this case, who is A. Landrum, 
the only American [sic] living in Deutschberg.” Landrum told De Nette 
that Gerhard and his son had managed Hugh’s (presumably Charles Evans 
Hughes, Republican presidential candidate in 1916) campaign in four or five 
states, and that his health had broken down as a consequence, and he had 
come to this place to recuperate.”45

Later that month Gerhard, on an altogether different matter, once again 
came to the attention of the Bureau. In a memo of April 30, 1918, Agent 
W. N. Zinn in Galveston reported on a meeting that he had had with Post 
Master W. H. Clements of Bay City. Agent Zinn’s memorandum included 
the typescript of an April 25 letter that Clements handed to him. In his letter 
Clements, referring to Gerhard, indicated that “I am satisfied this is a dan-
gerous man and one to be watched. I think his name is already on your list.” 
Clements added that Gerhard “lives in the Deutschburg settlement getting 
his mail at this and the Francitas Postoffice.” (The Francitas postoffice was, of 
course, where Gerhard’s daughter Adele had picked up the mail described in 
the letter published in the Tägliche Rundschau on September 14, and it was at 
that same postoffice where Gerhard confronted “my fellow English citizens” 
regarding the credibility of the English-language press, and, especially, the 
Houston Post.) In his memorandum Zinn restated that Gerhard “has been 
living for short periods at a time in this vicinity [of Deutschberg] for several 
years,” then noted that he “has previously received attention at the hands of 
both the San Antonio and Galveston offices.” Zinn also met with Jack Bar-
nett, “Cashier of the Palacios Bank,” where Zinn learned of checks that were 
sent to Gerhard, including some from the “Krieg Verein Von Chicago [sic].” 
Presumably based upon information provided by Barnett, Zinn recorded that 
“Subject was believed to have been organizer for the Germany [sic] American 
Alliance,” and that “Gerhard’s daughter was in Germany when the War broke 
out but returned to U.S. in 1914. . . .”46 Zinn then described Deutschburg 
as “a settlement of about 25 or 30 families all of them Germans. Gerhard has 
been living in Chicago most of the time and staying at Deutschberg from 1 
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to 3 months at a time.” Zinn mentioned that “Gerhard while at Deutschburg 
called himself a Doctor of Political Economy,” then closed his memorandum 
by stating that a “Copy of this report is being furnished Beaumont and Chi-
cago offices for their attention.”47

There is no evidence in Gerhard’s Bureau file that he was prosecuted 
because of his activities in Texas and Chicago. But the end of the war did not 
bring an end to the Bureau’s interest in him, though his Bureau file contained 
only a single item, a copy of a one-page June 28, 1919 letter that, as Secretary 
of the Germanamerican [sic] Citizens League, Gerhard sent to the San Anto-
nio Express in which he accused the paper of “going adrift in standing behind 
the president on his fourteen points despite your own intelligence, which 
tells you that the fourteen points are smashed and dead.” Recalling his use of 
the term “Deutschtexaner” in his letter published in the Tägliche Rundschau 
on September 18, 1914, Gerhard also lashed out at the controversy regard-
ing “the hyphen,” insisting that he had, “many years ago, before the poison 
propaganda against the ‘hyphen’ was spread over this land, written the word 
‘Germanamerican’ as one word just like you write ‘blueblooded’. It is an ex-
pression of a fact and all the ranting of pharisees cannot change a condition 
that God has created.”48

In fact, Gerhard’s one-page June 28, 1919 letter, at least as it is included 
in his “Old German File,” does not do justice to the context in which it was 
sent. Gerhard’s letter of June 28 was actually a response to material pub-
lished in the San Antonio Express earlier in the month. On June 4 the Express 
ran an editorial entitled “‘Hoch der Hyphen!’” The editorial dealt with the 
“German-American Citizens’ League” [sic] of Chicago and a letter that the 
organization had produced calling on Americans to oppose the treaty that the 
victorious powers were about to impose on Germany. Said the editorial in the 
Express: “The war is over. But the treaty with Germany is pending. And the 
hyphen remains in this country. It wriggles. It is full of life. It is apt to run 
amuck!” The editorial referred to “the plague of the German hyphen,” the 
sign of “a rooted domestic condition that must be blasted out, not merely a 
condition of deporting or importing a few inimical alien agitators.” This edi-
torial stirred Gerhard’s ire, which he communicated to the Express in a letter 
dated June 11. On June 18 the Express published copies of Gerhard’s June 11 
letter and the letter—the “Protest Resolution”—in which the Citizens League 
urged “we American citizens [to] protest most emphatically against this peace 
treaty and ask our Congress at Washington to refuse to sanction or to approve 
this act of wild spirit of revenge and avarice.” As with Gerhard’s June 28 letter 
in his Bureau file, his June 11 letter to the Express was prepared on the letter-
head of the “Deutschamerikanischer Bürgerbund (Germanamerican Citizens 
League).” The League’s May 20 letter—its “Protest-Resolution”—as pub-
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lished in the Express was prepared on the letterhead of the “Germanamerican 
Citizens League.” Accompanying Gerhard’s letter and the League’s “Protest-
Resolution” was the response of the Express which directed the reader’s atten-
tion “to the form in which the word, ‘american,’ appears in the letterheads—
both the German and the English—and in the text: the ‘small’ (lower case) ‘a’: 
‘Germanamerican Citizens League.’” The Express reminded its readers of “its 
refusal, past and present and future, to recognize that there is any ‘citizenship’ 
of and in this Nation that is not American—‘American’ without prefix, suf-
fix, hyphen; American without moderation or adulteration—it has the heavy 
moral, patriotic endorsement of every American whose eye it meets.” The 
Express considered the term “Germanamerican citizens . . . a flagrant insult 
to the American people. . . . It is peculiarly an insult to Americans resident in 
Chicago, which Thompson, its mayor, erstwhile called ‘the sixth German city’ 
in the world.” The Express pronounced its verdict on the treaty: “Americans 
do not look upon it as a ‘barbarian’ treaty, but as a treaty that must be made 
with a people who have plagued the world with hellish barbarism; as a treaty 
demanded by the principles of righteous reparation, democratic justice, and 
democratic safety.”49

With the exception of his June 28 letter to the San Antonio Express, there 
is no indication in Gerhard’s “Old German File” that the Bureau’s interest in 
him extended into 1919. But other newspaper accounts would tell a different 
story. Two days after the Express published its editorial “Hoch der Hyphen!” 
the paper printed an article originating with the “New York Tribune-Chicago 
Tribune Leased Wire” that described the newly created German-American 
Citizens’ League and Gerhard’s role in it. He was, according to the article, 
“formerly director of the German division of the American Embargo Asso-
ciation” who had become the “national and local secretary” of the Citizens 
League. The article reported that the Department of Justice in Washington “is 
examining the circulars” of the League. “It is the belief that the new organiza-
tion which has as an avowed purpose, according to its founder, Dr. Gerhard, 
the perpetuation of German kultur among citizens of German descent in the 
United States, has the old German-American alliance and the American Em-
bargo Association, as its parents.”50 Another press account identified Gerhard 
as the “secretary and organizer” of the German-American Citizens League, 
formed in Chicago, “a national organization of voters of German descent 
[that] is opposing the league of nations [sic] and the peace terms made to 
Germany by the Paris peace conference. . . .”51 Gerhard’s activity with the 
German-American Citizens League earned him the attention of the “United 
States Secret Service.” The Chicago Tribune of June 4, 1919 reported that 
“That branch of the government pried into the Germanamerican [sic] league 
soon after its organization last month.” The Tribune introduced its article by 
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reporting that the League “doesn’t fancy the peace treaty [Treaty of Versailles] 
or the league of nations [sic].” The Tribune quoted Gerhard as saying that “I 
am the only editor who advocated Mr. Wilson’s impeachment, and I still do.” 
Gerhard remarked that “We are not hyphenates. We insist on being Ameri-
cans and we believe Mr. Wilson has gone back on his word and let the four-
teen points go. . . . We are not violating the laws. As I explained to the secret 
service, the first principle is to be Americans and the second to perpetuate the 
German language and kultur.”52

Gerhard, “for years a contributor to German publications in this coun-
try,” died in Chicago on September 7, 1920.53

* * *

Carl Luetcke, whose letter appeared in the Kölnische Zeitung on October 
2, 1914, would be instrumental in the formation of the Travis County ef-
fort in behalf of Red Cross aid for Germany and Austria.54 He would travel 
to wartime Europe, specifically Norway, Sweden, and Germany, in 1916, as 
recorded in his October 23, 1916 passport application, for “business in con-
nection with the estates of my mother and mother-in-law, and also matters of 
charity.”55 He would return to the United States on April 20, 1917, some two 
weeks after the United States declared war on Germany.56

All other considerations aside, Luetcke’s 1916 trip to Germany would 
have been enough to attract the scrutiny of the Bureau of Investigation. The 
Bureau’s interest in Luetcke was initiated by a February 7, 1917 letter sent 
by J. H. Rogers, U.S. Marshall in Austin, to R. L. Barnes, a Bureau agent in 
San Antonio and the same person involved in the investigation of Gerhard. 
Rogers’ letter, sent while Luetcke was in Europe and some two months before 
the United States declared war on Germany, identified Luetcke as “a German 
lawyer . . . who is suspected of having some improper alliances with the Ger-
man government. A few weeks ago he went to Germany.” Rogers’ interest in 
Luetcke was generated by “two gentlemen” of Austin who “have very strong 
suspicions that this man [Luetcke] is in some way striving to assist the Ger-
man government.” These suspicions reinforced an earlier report “by one of 
our citizens here in Austin [who] told me that he suspected this party of being 
a German spy, or at least of having some improper relation with Germany.” 
Rogers had not at first reported on what he was initially told, “but the above 
information coming to me from these two other citizens, and especially since 
this party made a trip to Germany just at this time, it occurred to me that, 
while it was still merely suspicions, it would be well to give the matter some 
attention.” On February 9 Barnes wrote to Rogers (in Laredo) asking him “to 
arrange with the Postmaster to watch the mails which his [Luetcke’s] relatives 
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may receive, for the purpose of determining, if possible, the present address of 
Luecke [sic] whenever located in the United States. If you should secure this 
information, kindly telegraph the same to me, in order that we may arrange 
to cover his activities.” The Marshall subsequently inspected the addresses 
and return addresses of envelopes containing letters sent to Luetcke, his wife, 
and his business partner—“tracings” as he described them. There is, however, 
no indication that Rogers opened the letters. Marshall Rogers reported on 
this to R. L. Barnes on February 17, and Barnes included a typescript of this 
letter in a memorandum dated February 21. Rogers cautioned Barnes that 
“Of course, you understand that the postoffice authorities naturally want this 
matter held in strict confidence, as alwats [sic] should be done, but especially 
so if anything sensational should develop in this case.” In a letter dated March 
1, 1917, “Chief” (almost certainly Bielaski) forwarded a different “communi-
cation” from Rogers, this to W. K. Offley, Chief of the New York office of the 
Bureau of Investigation. In it Rogers said that Luetcke “made the claim before 
leaving here for Germany that he was going there to look after the closing of 
the Luetcke estate, belonging either to his father or mother. He has claimed 
some time to be interested in the Red Cross work, and has been known to 
receive contributions for that cause.”57

The Bureau’s further attention to Luetcke’s travels was confirmed in a 
March 5, 1917 memorandum by C. J. Scully, a Bureau agent based in New 
York City, who noted that, “Pursuant to instructions received, made arrange-
ments with the Customs officials whereby this bureau would be immediately 
notified in the event Carl Luetcke arrived at this port from abroad this so that 
his effects might be given a thorough examination to ascertain his reasons for 
visiting Germany.” In his memorandum of March 8 Scully wrote that “This 
A.M. [he] was informed by Mr. Merryman agent in charge of the Passport 
Bureau, that Carl Luetcke had secured U.S. Passport No. 38554 on Novem-
ber 3, 1916. . . .” As recorded by Scully, Luetcke stated that he planned to 
visit Norway, Sweden, and Germany; that he intended to settle the estate “of 
mother and mother in law”; and that he wanted “to perform charitable work 
in Germany.” Scully concluded his memorandum by noting that “A letter 
was said [by Merryman?] to be attached to the application for the passport in 
which he [Luetcke] refers to the Postmaster General as one who could state 
as to his qualifications, etc., and that a very strong endorsement was received 
signed by the Secretary to the Postmaster General.” Marshall Rogers would 
subsequently produce two more memoranda regarding “tracings” of mail to 
Mrs. Luetcke, but the Bureau’s file would suggest that it was no longer inter-
ested in pursuing a case against Luetcke. Despite the fact that Scully’s March 
8 memorandum was titled “All. [Alleged?] German Secret Agent,” the Post-
master’s endorsement of Luetcke may have been enough to allay the Bureau’s 
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concerns about him.58 Luetcke returned to the United States on April 30, 
1917.59

On a least one other occasion during the war Luetcke showed himself 
ready to serve as a link between the Old Fatherland and the New. In early 
1918 Luetcke, as described by the Special Assistant to the Attorney General, 
sent a letter to the Department of Justice, “in which he [Luetcke] states that 
he is in receipt of communications from the Prisoners of War Relief Commit-
tee, asking his assistance in investigating certain persons with a view to dis-
covering whether they should be given financial assistance.” The Special Assis-
tant communicated Luetcke’s request to the State Department, which, in the 
person of the Second Assistant Secretary to the Secretary of State, Alvey A. 
Adee, responded that “I should consider it advisable to inform him [Luetcke] 
that his connection with the above Committee [Prisoners of War Relief Com-
mittee in New York] does not meet with the approval of this Government.”60

In the postwar years Luetcke would maintain his ties to Germany. In 
1923 the German government named him as Consul in which capacity, from 
the consulate in San Antonio, he would serve most of Texas. Upon taking 
office, Luetcke announced his interest in “expediting international business 
as much as possible. . . .” And, as an indicator of what he thought needed to 
be done to integrate Texas-Germans more fully into the society around them, 
he planned

to urge the German people in my territory to break away, as much as 
possible, from the clannishness which has marked them in the past. 

I am an American citizen and proud of it and I believe that 
Americanization of all foreign elements should be the first aim of 
every good citizen. Clannish colonies, in which only the language of 
their mother country is spoken, are a bad thing, both for the people 
making up those colonies and the native Americans living about 
them.61

A year after being named Consul Luetcke would participate in the post-
war campaign sponsored by the American Committee for Relief of German 
Women and Children “to raise funds to feed the starving women and chil-
dren of Germany. . . .”62

Luetcke served as the German Consul in San Antonio from 1923 to 
1931.63 He died in 1966.

* * *
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Robert Hanschke offers an interesting example of an immigrant who 
clearly embraced both the New Fatherland and the Old. In 1880, in New Or-
leans, he married Louisiana-born Elisabeth Weber, whose parents were born 
in Prussia, and in 1882 he became a naturalized U.S. citizen.64 Very much 
involved in the American political process, Hanschke was an active member 
of the Republican Party, a “straight Republican.”65 He was a McKinley sup-
porter and attended the Republican Party nominating convention in St. Lou-
is in 1896.66 He owned/edited a newspaper identified as “Republican,”67 and 
he was the Republican candidate for the position of Lieutenant-Governor of 
Texas in 1896.68 Hanschke’s “American side” was captured by a 1911 article 
reporting that “his career since he landed in New Orleans in 1866 is accepted 
by all who know him as an illustration of what can be done in America if one 
possesses pluck, energy, and brains.”69 

But, through all this, Hanschke maintained close ties both to his fellow 
German-Americans and to the Old Fatherland itself. His ties to German-
America were exemplified early on by his giving an “oration” at the “Grand 
German Volksfest for the Benefit of the German Protestant Orphan Asylum” 
in New Orleans in May 1872,70 and, almost forty years later, by his selection 
to serve on the executive committee of the Committee of One Hundred, 
“an organization created by the San Antonio Lokal Verband of the German-
American National Alliance [sic]” to fight against prohibition.71 The range of 
Hanschke’s connections to his fellow German-Americans was captured by a 
remark printed in 1910 that described him as “prominent in German lodge 
circles throughout the state.”72 And almost from the day of his arrival in the 
United States, Hanschke was connected with the German-language press, 
including the Deutsche Zeitung in New Orleans; as editor, the Texas Post of 
Galveston;73 and, finally, as owner/editor, the San Antonio Freie Presse für 
Texas.74

Hanschke reinforced his ties to the Old Fatherland by several trips to 
Germany. At a minimum, Hanschke secured passports to travel abroad in 
1882, 1889, 1897, 1906, 1909 (returning to the United States in the same 
year), 1911 (returning in 1912), and 1921 (on which he identified himself 
as “retired editor”). Passenger arrival records for 1896, 1900, 1913, 1914 
suggest that he may have taken additional trips to Germany. That Hanschke 
placed a good deal of importance on such trips was indicated by the fact that 
the Republican State Executive Committee in 1908 wished to choose him 
as its candidate for Land Commissioner, “but the gentleman was forced to 
decline because he has arranged to leave for Europe to be absent a year and 
could not serve if elected.”75

As with Herman Gerhard and Carl Luetcke, the World War brought 
Robert Hanschke to the attention of the Bureau of Investigation, though 
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only in 1918, almost one year after the United States entered the World War. 
Hanschke’s file with the Bureau concerned his links to the Servicio de Prensa, 
a news service in Mexico City.76 In a report (in the form of a letter) dated 
March 13 and sent from Breniman (elsewhere identified as Chas. E. Breni-
man, Division Superintendent in the Bureau of Investigation’s San Antonio 
office) to Bielaski, the former described the search of the home and office of 
“Robert Hanschke, editor Texas Free Press [sic], German suspect,” the day be-
fore. “Search based on information furnished by [the] Censor Board. Letters 
found show propaganda has been furnished Hanschke in San Antonio [by 
Servicio in Mexico City].” The search turned up “Other letters [that] show 
line of communication to Germany used by Servicio de la Perensa via Spanish 
boats to Spain and thence wireless to Germany.”77

A March 14 memorandum produced by Agent W. A. Wiseman, one of 
the three agents involved in the search of the offices of the Freie Presse für 
Texas, indicated that Hanschke, apparently at the office at the time of the 
search, “stated that when war was declared against Germany he [Hanschke] 
received numerous letter [sic] from his subscribers speaking very bitter against 
the United States for entering the war, and he did not publish any of these 
letter [sic], but warned the parties to be carfull [sic] and be peaceful, under the 
present crisis that they should assist the country they were living in.”78

A memorandum of March 15 (“PERIOD FOR WHICH MADE March 
13”) produced by Agent E. T. Needham, another of the three agents who 
searched Hanschke’s home and office, reported that, “With the consent of 
the United States Attorney [a] search warrant was secured for the residence 
and place of business of Hanschke, he being the proprietor of the Texas Free 
Press, a German organ in this section of the State.” The Bureau’s interest in 
Hanschke was initiated by the “Local Censorship Board,” which reported that 
Hanschke had written to the Servicio de Prensa in Mexico City “requesting 
that they do not send him letters and information.” The search of Hanschke’s 
residence yielded nothing, but “At the print shop numerous letters from the 
Servicio de la Perensa, translation of which will be made at once, were found.” 
Among those letters was one from the Servicio to Hanschke informing him 
“that he could communicate with Germany by writing [to the Servicio’s] of-
fice in Mexico City, and they could relay the information by Spanish boat to 
Spain, and thence by wireless to Germany.” According to Agent Neunhof-
fer, the third of the three agents to search Hanschke’s home and office, the 
Servicio “is located in the Boker Building in Mexico City, and is headed by 
one Carl Duems, who is leader of the German Espionage system in Mexico.” 
Upon questioning by the Bureau’s agents, Hanschke “stated that the reason 
for not using the material [sent him by the Servicio] was that it appeared to 
him to be dangerous German propaganda. He could not explain, however, 
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why he did not report this matter to the Federal authorities.” Needham ob-
served that Hanschke “has been in San Antonio for about 40 years, and has 
been a citizen of the United States for the past 35 years. For this reason it will 
be necessary to prosecure [sic] rather than intern him, and the United States 
Attorney desires a little additional information showing the connection of 
the Servicio de la Perensa with the German Government.” Needham reported 
that he “spent the entire night questioning Hanschke, but he refused to make 
any statement other than that he was innocent of any intent to do wrong.”79

A May 14, 1918 letter from Colonel R. H. Van Deman, Chief, Military 
Intelligence Branch of the Executive Division of the War Department, which 
was addressed to A. B. Bielaski, referred to “the charge of treason against Rob-
ert Hanschke.” The letter dealt with “evidence showing that the Servicio de 
Prensa, with which Hanschke is connected, was a German agency.” In a May 
27 letter, also addressed to Bielaski, Chas. E. Breniman noted that the inves-
tigation of Hanschke was “based on a memorandum from the United States 
Postal Censor,” and that a search of Hanschke’s home and the offices of the 
Freie Presse für Texas, discussed earlier, had produced “a number of communi-
cations . . . that have passed between Hanschke and the Servicio de la Prensa.” 
The memorandum indicated that “The United States Attorney for this Dis-
trict is desirous of prosecuting Hanschke for his treasonable activities,” but 
also that a conviction would require a successful effort to link Carl Deums 
[sic], Hanschke’s Servicio correspondent, with the Servicio de Prensa.80 

The letters and memoranda in Hanschke’s Bureau of Investigation file 
show U.S. authorities to have been convinced that the Servicio de Prensa 
provided a connection between Hanschke and Germany, and that Hanschke 
was in effect a traitor to the United States—though as early as March 15, 
1918 a note from Bielaski to Breniman said this: “Unable [to] show con-
nection Servicio Dela Perensa [sic] with German Government.”81 Hanschke’s 
case presented at least two complications. Could U.S. authorities provide 
conclusive evidence that the Servicio was in fact the link to Germany that 
they believed it to be? Deums’ signature appeared on material received by 
Hanschke. But could authorities prove that the signature was actually that of 
Deums? As mentioned in Needham’s memorandum, Hanschke had resided 
in San Antonio for some 40 years and was a longtime citizen of the Unit-
ed States, and could not simply be interned. Prosecuting Hanschke would 
initiate legal proceedings, almost certainly a lengthy process, and again, as 
Needham indicated, the United States Attorney had aleady indicated that 
he needed more information to connect the Servicio with the German gov-
ernment. A May 27 letter from Breniman to Bielaski indicated that “The 
United States Attorney for this District is desirous of prosecuting Hanschke 
for his treasonable activities, but before successful prosecution can be main-
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tained, it is necessary that we establish, through competent testimony, De-
ums’ connection with the Servicio de Prensa, as well as Deums’ signature.” 
Breniman concluded his message by mentioning that Hanschke “is one of 
the most prominent German-Americans in San Antonio and is reputed to 
be quite wealthy.” A June 12 letter from “Chief”—presumably Bielaski—to 
William H. Lamar, Solicitor, Post Office Department in Washington, sug-
gested that the authorities had not yet dotted the eyes and crossed the tees 
of the case against Hanschke: “This Department contemplates a prosecution 
of Hanschke under the Espionage Act as soon as we secure witnesses who 
can identify the signature of Dums [sic].” A letter of July 27 from Breni-
man to Assistant U.S. Attorney Hugh R. Robertson in Austin suggests that 
authorities still were not confident that they could make a compelling case 
against Hanschke: “I would be pleased to have you advise me as soon as 
convenient, if in your opinion, Hanschke could be successfully prosecuted, 
without the establishing by competent testimony, the signatures of Duems 
[sic] and whether the correspondence between Hanschke and the ‘Servicio de 
Prensa’ of Mexico City, would be admissible in evidence as is so interestingly 
suggested by Major Barnes [identified elsewhere as Major Robert L. Barnes, 
Department Intelligence Officer, Fort Sam Houston, Texas, and the former 
Bureau “Special Agent in Charge” who, through at least September 1917, 
operated in San Antonio].”82 The closest thing to closure of the Hanschke 
case in his Bureau of Investigation file was a memorandum (“Violation of the 
Espionage Act”) by Agent Wm. Neunhoffer dated September 13 (chronologi-
cally the penultimate document in Hanschke’s file): “It is [United States At-
torney] Mr. Robertson’s intention to submit all evidence secured against Mr. 
Hanschke to the December federal grand jury for its consideration.” In a letter 
dated May 12, 1919, the latest item in Hanschke’s Bureau of Investigation 
file, “Acting Chief” indicated that “This Bureau has occasion to refer to the 
case of Robert Hanschke. . . . Will you be good enough to inform me whether 
this case was brought to the attention of the federal grand jury; if so, whether 
an indictment was found and indicated whether Hanschke has been tried.” 
It may be that the conclusion of hostilities in Europe on November 11, some 
six months earlier, had eliminated the impulse for pursuing the case against 
“Mr. Hanschke.”83

In 1920, Hanschke, who was by then seriously ill, sold the Freie Presse 
für Texas to Robert Penniger.84 In 1921 Hanschke once again traveled to Ger-
many, this time in the company of his daughter Mary, and with the intention 
of alleviating the suffering produced by his poor health. It is perhaps fitting 
that Hanschke, who had so often nourished connections between the Old 
Fatherland and the New by his travels to the Old Fatherland, died in Berlin 
on March 1, 1922.85 As he had during his stay in Germany in 1913-14, 
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Hanschke sent letters back to the United States that were published in the 
Freie Presse für Texas, the last of them, “like a voice from another world,” ap-
pearing two weeks after his death.86

* * *

Spielhagen’s Bureau of Investigation file, though relatively brief—only 
nine pages—, covers events in 1917, 1918, and 1919. In a memorandum 
dated April 1, 1917, several days before the United States declared war on 
Germany, Agent Erby E. Smith, in San Antonio, reported that “a personal 
friend of mine, Mr. L. B. Stoner advises that a Mr. G. R. Spielhagen, living at 
214 Lotus St. this city is supposed to be paid for some service by the Ger-
man Govt.” Stoner, who lived across the street from Spielhagen, told Smith 
“that he wished to give me this information as a good citizen should,” and 
he deemed it “public knowledge” that Spielhagen “received a salary from the 
German Govt.” Stoner added “That at one time the letter carrier misplaced a 
letter, or someone stole a letter out of Spielhagen’s mail box, and that a great 
stir was mad[e] about it.”87

Apparently following up on the Smith/Stoner encounter, Agent J. B. Rog-
ers of Victoria, in an April 28, 1917 report entitled “Alleged pro-German Sym-
pathies,” claimed that, as “a State Warehouse Inspector,” Spielhagen “has access 
to the books, records, stock of all warehouses. He can obtain all data as to 
location, arrangement, and contents. He is as I understand it employed by the 
State in the Warehouse and Marketing Department.” Rogers described a con-
versation at the Victoria Compress Company between owner Chas. L. Grunder 
and his assistant, G. G. Lawson. The assistant asked Grunder “if he had noticed 
the morning papers account of the fighting in France.” Spielhagen, who was in-
specting the company’s records at the time, “quit his examination of the books 
and entered spiritedly into the conversation. His talk showed strong sympathy 
for the Germans. Among other things, he said the Germans are fight[ing] a 
just war and that he hoped not one American soldier would ever reach the fir-
ing line. His talk was so clearly pro-German that he [Lawson?] resented it and 
Mr. Lawson came near having an altercation with Spielhagen.” Grunder added 
that “Spielhagen did not examine all the records but became too much excited 
to do so.” Lawson, who corroborated Grunder’s account, told Rogers that “he 
got mad at Spielhagen and would have whipped him if he continued his talk.” 
Both Grunder and Lawson told the “Agent” that “they consider Spielhagen a 
dangerous man to have access to the records of such plants as theirs. If he is 
disposed to do so as his conversation indicates he can do an immense amount 
of damage by furnishing information to the enemy.”88
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The Bureau of Investigation, in the person of Agent B. C. Baldwin, fol-
lowed up on the earlier lead. In a memo “for May 5, 1917” Baldwin reported 
that he called on Governor Ferguson, who said that he did not know Spiel-
hagen but “suppose[d]” that he had been appointed to his position by Sena-
tor T. C. Weinert [sic], presumably State Senator Ferdinand Carl Weinert of 
Seguin. Baldwin subsequently interviewed Senator Weinert. The Senator told 
Baldwin that “I appointed Spielhagen to pay a political debt, he has made 
us a good man-but if he has made any pro-German talks or in any manner 
shown that he is disloyal to the United States, I will not ask your department 
for the proof, but will immediately discharge him. He is an American citizen 
I am sure, but it makes no difference about that if he is pro-German he can-
not work with me. I am of German parents, but first an American right or 
wrong for the U.S. [M]y record will show this; if you think best I will put 
this man at some other kind of work, and in meantime have him watched 
and report to your department any activities on his part, or as I before stated, 
will discharge him at once.” At that point, as he recorded, Baldwin “suggested 
that Mr. Spielhagen be given work of such a nature, that information valuable 
to Germany would not fall into his possession, also that Senator Wienart [sic] 
notify the department at San Antonio, of any activities on the part of this or 
any other German, which he agreed to do.” The Bureau’s interest in Spielha-
gen, at least for 1917, apparently concluded without further action.89

Spielhagen again claimed the Bureau’s attention in 1918. In a memoran-
dum dated March 29, 1918 (“IN RE: G. R. SPIELHAGEN Pro-German”), 
Agent Louis De Nette, stationed in San Antonio, said that his office had 
received a report from John B. Carrington, the “local representative for the 
Federal Food Administration,” that Spielhagen, “formerly in the employ of 
the State, is believed by him to be one source of German propaganda against 
the planting of the castor bean. Said bean is used for the production of oil 
with which aeroplanes are lubricated.” Agent R. E. Corder subsequently 
(April 7) followed up on “Special Employee” De Nette’s report regarding 
“G. R. Spielhagen, pro-German suspect.” He did so by getting a statement 
from W. S. Hand, Federal Food Demonstrator. Hand said that he had had a 
conversation with Spielhagen in which “he asked me several direct questions 
about the caster [sic] bean. . . .” Hand remarked that, “From his manner and 
what I considered foolish questions for an intelligent man to ask, caused me 
to think that he wanted my statement to use in his arguments to his people to 
not plant the bean.” In September Division Superintendent Breniman, upon 
request, forwarded a copy of Spielhagen’s file to M. Wirt Steele, “Director of 
Organization, United States Food Administration,” in Houston. That note 
seems to have ended the Bureau’s 1918 interest in Spielhagen.90
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Spielhagen once again came to the Bureau’s attention in what looks to 
have been a personal dispute. In his memorandum of October 2, 1919, Agent 
W. A. Wiseman of the San Antonio office recorded that he went to the office 
of Sheriff Tobin in San Antonio and interviewed “Max Dallmier, German 
Alien Enemy, who recently made an application thru the local Immigration 
Department for a passport to go to Germany.” Dallmier had known Spielha-
gen “for a number of years and had all the confidence in the world of him,” 
and he asked Spielhagen “to secure a New York Exchange check or to have 
the money [$1,400] deposited in the Deutsch National Bank at Berlin, Ger-
many, . . . but it had developed that Spielhagen has applied the money to his 
own use, and now refuses to return the money.” Sheriff Tobin was advised 
that “there was no features of a Federal violation, in as much as Commericial 
[sic] relations with Germany had been established, it could not be consid-
ered a violation of the Trading with the Enemy Act, notwithstanding the 
fact that Spielhagnes [sic] was using the money in Germany, and suggested 
that charges be filed in the State against Spielhagen for receiving money un-
der false pretense.” This memorandum marked the conclusion of Spielhagen’s 
Bureau file.91

The Bureau’s concerns about his loyalty notwithstanding, Spielhagen was 
among the “close to 200 delegates” attending a meeting of the Texas branch of 
the German-American Alliance in Austin on June 28, 1916. At that meeting 
the organization adopted two resolutions, one “urging all citizens of Texas of 
German descent to vote in the July primary against submission of the pro-
hibition question,” the other “condemning the use of the term ‘hyphenated 
Americans’ when applied to citizens of German descent and condemning 
those persons who dispute the loyalty of the American citizens of German 
descent.”92 And Spielhagen continued his involvement in Texas political life. 
As mentioned above, he owed his position on the State Warehouse and Mar-
keting Commission to Democratic State Senator F. C. Weinert, and he was 
among the “German-American Citizens” who supported former Democratic 
Governor O. B. Colquitt in his unsuccessful campaign to be the Demo-
cratic nominee for the United States Senate in 1916.93 And yet, as the end 
of hostilities permitted, Spielhagen seemed intent on fulfilling the commit-
ment mentioned in his 1914 letter, to provide relief to the needy people of 
Germany and Austria, “after the war, as our resources permit, to help dry 
the tears.” In the summer and early autumn of 1919 he placed ads in the 
Seguiner Zeitung announcing that he would be managing the shipment of 
goods and cash “for Germany’s and Austria’s starving people!”94 And at about 
the same time Spielhagen placed notices in the San Antonio Evening News an-
nouncing the shipment of relief materials to Europe.95 In January 1920 the 
Seguiner Zeitung carried an ad over Spielhagen’s name announcing the “fastest 



Disloyal or Not?: Four Deutschtexaner and the Great War

119

freight and postal shipment to relatives and friends in Germany, Austria and 
Czecho-Slovakia.” The ad identified Spielhagen as an “agent (Vertreter) of the 
Hamburg-Amerika Line.”96 And as late as the spring of 1922, in an ad placed 
in the Seguiner Zeitung, Spielhagen offered to ship Liebesgabenpackete to rela-
tives in Germany. The ad placed Spielhagen in “Magdeburg, Germany.”97 An 
article in the Galveston Daily News indicated that Spielhagen “had retired 
from active business prior to 1920, but reopened his office in San Antonio for 
the shipment of relief goods to Germany after hostilities had ceased, continu-
ing this work for more than a year.” This information was part of an article 
reporting on Spielhagen’s suicide on June 26, 1923, just a day before he, his 
wife, and daughter were scheduled to arrive in Galveston after a two-year visit 
to Germany.98

* * *

The second half of 1914, that period of time in which the four letters 
considered in this essay were published in Germany, would provide a some-
what blurred picture of the place that German-Texans occupied in the politi-
cal landscape of the Lone Star State. On the one hand, the Freie Presse für Tex-
as in December could report that German-Americans—eleven—would hold 
more seats in the next session of the state’s House of Representatives than ever 
before,99 and that, as the letters treated here indicate, German-Texans could 
aggressively express, and act upon, their ties to the Old Fatherland. And indi-
viduals such as Robert Hanschke, both a staunch Republican and a frequent 
traveler to Germany, could safely be both German and American.100 But those 
same letters indicate that German-Texans early on faced what they took to be 
the hostility of many of their neighbors and, especially, the “English press” 
with its reports that seemed to blame Germany for the war and to understate 
the successes of the German military. And the letters’ authors would attract 
the attention of the Bureau of Investigation, with each investigation, whether 
originated by “good citizens,” postal authorities, or law enforcement officials, 
questioning the loyalty of these German-Americans to their adopted home-
land.

Frederick Luebke has written that, in the two decades preceding the war, 
“social forces had been operating to weaken the cohesion of the [German] 
immigrant community,” and that, in response, “German ethnic leaders had 
resisted the trend and had become increasingly chauvinistic in their promo-
tion of Deutschtum as a cultural counter to the dominant one based on Eng-
lish foundations.”101 It is not clear that each of the letter writers treated in 
this paper merited the designation of chauvinist, though Luebke would al-
most certainly have so identified Gerhard given what Luebke described as the 
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“chauvinistic editorials” Gerhard produced for the Omaha Tribune in 1916.102

Luebke has also written that “The declaration of war against Germany in 
1917 altered the German-American position radically.”103 But many German-
Americans, not just the “chauvinists,” would have seen their world somewhat 
differently beginning in August 1914. They could not have helped but sense 
that their fellow Americans saw them somewhat differently upon the out-
break of war. And many German-Americans, through letters from the Old 
Fatherland, would learn of the death of their male relatives on the battlefields 
of Europe and would contribute financially to mitigate the suffering of their 
widows and orphans in the Old Fatherland.

Certainly the four first-generation German-Americans treated in this pa-
per had gone to war in August 1914, well over two years before the United 
States entered the war in April 1917. And their ties to Germany would survive 
the distress they faced during 1917–1918 as each of them, in various ways, 
reaffirmed his ties to the Old Fatherland once the war concluded. As indicat-
ed earlier, in their postwar America Gerhard vigorously promoted German-
americanism in Chicago; Hanschke traveled to Germany and died in Berlin; 
Luetcke, who would also travel to Germany, became the German Consul in 
San Antonio; and Spielhagen in 1919 strived to provide relief to the “starving 
people” of Germany and Austria and later traveled to Germany.104

On January 4, 1922, the Freie Presse für Texas observed that “One can pre-
dict with certainty a reawakening of national life (des völkisch Lebens) among 
the Americans of German ancestry.” For the Freie Presse that reawakening was 
visible in the German-speaking societies; in the German churches that were 
regaining former members who had left them during the war to avoid per-
secution by German-haters; and in other areas where Americans of Germans 
ancestry were coming together to face the challenges that the new times had 
placed before them.105 In the end, that reawakening, the postwar activities 
of the four German-Americans treated in this paper, and Luetcke’s concern 
about “clannishness,” expressed in 1923, suggest that the Americanization of 
Texas’s “Germans” remained a work in progress.

Woodbridge, Virginia
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